THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

**APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000076**

Case No. 2017-CP-10-03110  
(formerly Probate Court Case No. 2010-ES-10-00413)

CAROL MANIGAULT,

Appellant,

v.

MORRIS ELLISON, AS PERSONAL  
REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE  
OF ANDREW MANIGAULT,

Respondent.

**RECEIVED**  
NOV 13 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

Dated: November 11, 2019

By:

DeJong Law Firm, LLC

  
Karen M. DeJong, Esq.

Bar No. 70699

222 West Coleman Blvd., Ste. 110

Mount Pleasant, SC 29464

Tel. No. 843-216-6161

Fax No. 843-300-1080

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERR BY NOT RULING ON APPELLANT'S FOREIGN JUDGMENT FILED ON NOVEMBER 17, 2010 IN THE CHARLESTON COUNTY PROBATE COURT AND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THIS FOREIGN JUDGMENT SHOULD BE ALLOWED AS A CLAIM AGAINST THE ESTATE?**
  
- II. DID THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERR IN RULING ON RESPONDENT'S ISSUES THAT WERE NOT PRESENTED OR RULED UPON IN THE PROBATE COURT?**
  
- III. DID THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERR IN ALLOWING NEW EVIDENCE TO BE SUBMITTED AT THE APPELLATE HEARING THAT WAS NOT PREVIOUSLY USED IN THE PROBATE COURT PROCEEDING?**
  
- IV. DID THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE "REPORTER'S COMMENT" FROM AN EARLIER VERSION OF S.C. CODE ANN. 62-3-806 WAS NOT TO BE SHOWN A CONTROLLING ERROR?**
  
- V. DID THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERR IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT'S DISALLOWANCE OF CLAIM WAS VALID BECAUSE IT CITED NEW EVIDENCE THAT HAD NOT BEEN USED IN THE PROBATE COURT PROCEEDING AND IT DID NOT RULE UPON APPELLANT'S STATUTE OF LIMITATION ARGUMENT?**
  
- VI. DID THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERR IN ADDING A SEPARATE GROUND FOR DISMISSAL OF APEAL FOR FAILING TO COMPLY WITH STATUTORY DEADLINE AND COURT RULES?**

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appeal from the probate court is governed by the provisions of the Probate Code. In re Howard, 315 S.C. 356, 360, 434 S.E.2d 254, 256 (1993). The Probate Code requires appeals from the Probate Court to be to the circuit court. S.C. Code Ann. 62-1-308. In reviewing an appeal from the probate court, the circuit court must apply the same rules of law as an appellate court would apply. S.C. Code An. 62-1-308(d), In re Estate of Pallister, 363 S.C. 437, 447, 611 S.E.2d 250, 256 (2005). The circuit court may not disturb the probate court's findings of fact unless a review of the record discloses there is no evidence to support them. In re Estate of Howard, 315 S.C. 356, 360, 434 S.E.2d 254, 257 (1993).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 5, 2010, Andrew Manigault passed away leaving a Will. **R.pp. 307-326.** A Petition was filed to appoint Morris Ellison, Esq., as Personal Representative of Mr. Manigault's Estate pursuant to the Will. On March 17, 2010, Mr. Morrison was appointed as Personal Representative of Mr. Manigault's Estate and Case No. 2010-ES-10-0413 was assigned to the probate of this estate.

On September 15, 2010, Appellant filed a Statement of Creditor's Claim in relation to New Jersey property pursuant to a New Jersey Divorce Decree. **R.pp. 28-44.** On November 17, 2010, Appellant filed a Statement of Creditor's Claim in relation to North Carolina and South Carolina properties. **R.p. 45.** See Appellant's Opposition to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment. **R.pp. 155-198.**

In addition, Notice(s) of Filing of Foreign Judgment and supporting documentation was filed in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas on November 17, 2010, Case No. 2010-

CP-10-9512, **R.pp. 64-80**, and Notice(s) of Filing of Foreign Judgment and supporting documentation was filed in the Charleston County Probate Court on November 17, 2010 under Case No. 2010-ES-10-0413. **R.pp. 46-63**. See Appellant's Opposition to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment. **R.pp. 155-198**.

Subsequently the Charleston County Court of Commons Pleas ruled that the Charleston County Probate Court had jurisdiction to hear a divorce judgment where one of the spouses had passed away. The Charleston County Court of Common Pleas dismissed the action before it and referred the matter over to the Charleston County Probate Court, Case No. 2010-ES-10-0413.

**R.pp. 5-6.**

The validity of the Notice of Filing of Foreign Judgment with supporting documentation has never been contested in the Charleston County Probate Court under Case No. 2010-ES-10-0413.

On January 20, 2016, Appellant was served with Notice of Disallowance from the Respondent on her two Creditor's Claims. **R. pp. 86-89**. See Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment. **R.pp. 109-128**.

On February 19, 2016, Appellant filed a Summons and Petition and served same upon the Respondent's employee at the Respondent's Law Firm. **R.pp. 90-95**.

Appellant was petitioning the Court to approve the two claims. The Respondent filed an Answer to the Petition on March 18, 2016. **R. pp. 96-99**.

Thereafter, Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment against the Appellant on the following grounds:

- I. The Carol Manigault creditor claims are statutory barred as a matter of law under S.C. Code Ann. 62-3-806(1) and 62-3-804(5) for failure to serve her Summons and Petition for Allowance of Claims within the statutory thirty (30) day time period.**
- II. The Carol Manigault creditor claims are barred as a matter of law for lack of service of process.**
- III. S.C. Code Ann. 15-3-530(1) Claims Bar (3 year Statute of Limitations for enforcing contractual claims)**

See Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment. **R.pp. 100-154.**

The Appellant filed Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment on the following grounds:

- a) Validity of Foreign Judgment filed in Charleston County Probate Court on November 17, 2010 was never been challenged by Respondent. (Appellant agreed that the Foreign Judgment filed in Charleston County Court of Common Pleas be dismissed and so it was ordered).**
- b) Appellant timely filed a Summons and Petition for Allowance of Creditor's Claims with Respondent.**
- c) Genuine issues of material facts remain unsolved in this case. Appellant alleged that she is a judgment creditor thus giving her valid claims priority over the unsecured creditors in this action.**

See Appellant's Opposition to Summary Judgment. **R.pp. 155-198.**

The court held a hearing on the motion on January, 19, 2017. See Transcript of Charleston County Probate Court Hearing held on January 19, 2017 re: Personal Representative's Motion for Summary Judgment under Case No. 2010-ES-10-0413. **R.pp.332-362.**

On April 7, 2017, by Order, the Court granted the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment as follows:

- 1. Appellant's two creditor claims were timely filed within the applicable one year time period.**

2. **In a Reporter's Comments to Section 62-3-806, the Court ruled that "failure of a personal representative to mail notice of his action within thirty days after the claim filing period has expired constitutes a notice of disallowance with warning of impending bar." The Court acknowledged that the Respondent did not file a Notice of Disallowance of Appellant's two Creditor's Claims until January 25, 2016 and January 20, 2016, almost five years after the expiration of the claims period. However, the Court found that despite the Respondent not providing notice of disallowance until January, 2016, the claims were automatically disallowed by statute on April 5, 2011 and that Appellant had thirty (30) days thereafter to react accordingly. The Court ruled that the Appellant's Summons and Petition was not filed until almost five years after the time to commence a proceeding had run, and therefore, the Court barred Appellant's two claims.**
3. **Given the ruling as cited in the preceding paragraph, the Court "need not reach Respondent's alternate arguments regarding improper service or the enforceability of the Divorce Decree as a foreign judgment.**

**R.pp. 7-12.**

On April 17, 2017, Appellant filed a Motion to Alter/Amend Judgment and on June 1, 2017, the Court denied the Appellant's Motion to Alter/Amend Judgment. See Order Denying Motion to Alter/Amend Judgment. **R.p. 13.**

On June 16, 2017, Appellant filed a Notice to Appeal with the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas, Case No. 2017-CP-10-03110. See Appellant's Notice of Appeal. **R. pp. 205-207.**

On August 30, 2017, Appellant filed her Initial Brief which contained the following arguments:

- I. **Did the Probate Court err in denying Appellant's Motion to Alter/Amend Judgment because the Court did not rule on the Appellant's Foreign Judgment claim in its' Order granting Summary Judgment to Respondent?**

- II. Did the Probate Court err in denying Appellant's Motion to Alter/Amend Judgment because the Court disregarded the Statute of Limitations as set forth in S.C. Code 62-3-806(a) in its' Order granting Summary Judgment to Respondent?**
- III. Did the Probate Court err in denying Appellant's Motion to Alter/Amend Judgment because the Court cited a "Reporter's Comment" printed after S.C. Code 62-3-806 as its' primary authority in its' Order granting Summary Judgment to Respondent?**

See Appellant's Initial Brief. **R.pp. 225-241.**

On September 29, 2017, Respondent filed his Initial Brief which contained the following arguments:

- I. All Appellant creditor claims are barred as a matter of law for Appellant's failure to properly and timely serve her Summons and Petition for Allowance of Claim within the statutory thirty day deadline.**
- II. All Appellant creditor claims are barred as a matter of S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-3-530(1).**
- III. Appellant's Issue on Appeal I argument fails by virtue of the July 29, 2011 Charleston County Court of Common Pleas Order granting the Andrew Manigault Estate's Motion for Relief from Foreign Judgment (which Order dismissed Appellant's entire Foreign Judgment case based on the Court of Common Pleas' lack of subject matter jurisdiction and SCRC(12)(b)(8), and did not refer the case to Probate Court). Appellant failed to domesticate any foreign judgment in South Carolina against the Estate of Andrew Manigault.**
- IV. Appellant's Issues on Appeal II and III arguments fail because the Personal Representative properly complied with the relevant prior version of S.C. Code 62-3-806(a) in effect at the time of the Decedent's death (which prior version did not contain the deadline for disallowance relied upon by Appellant).**

See Respondent's Brief. **R.pp. 242-267.**

On July 30, 2018, an appellate hearing was held before Hon. J. Mark Hayes, II in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas. See Appellate Hearing Transcript. **R.pp. 275-306.** At the appellate hearing, Respondent submitted a Comparison of 2010 and 2014 S.C. Code 62-3-806 (three sheets). See Comparison. **R.pp. 332-335.**

On December 27, 2018, the Court issued an Order denying Appeal with the following ruling:

- A. Appellant's foreign judgment claims were dismissed by the Court of Common Pleas for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and pursuant to Rule 12(b)(8) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.**
- B. Appellant incorrectly cites to the current version of S.C. Code Ann. 62-3-806(a), which was not in effect at the time of the Decedent's death in 2010. The relevant version of the statute did not contain the new deadline for disallowance relied upon by the Appellant.**
- C. A citation by the Probate Court to a "Reporter's Comment" from an earlier version of S.C. Code Ann. 62-3-806 has not been shown to be a controlling error.**
- D. Appellant failed to properly serve her Summons and Petition for Allowance of Claims as required under South Carolina law.**
- E. As evidenced in the very language of Appellant's creditor claims for breach of Divorce Decree and its accompanying HUD Uniform Settlement Statement for refinancing, Appellant had notice of any breach well before three years prior to the decedent's death.**

See Order Denying Appeal. **R.pp. 14-27.**

On January 17, 2019, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal with the S.C. Court of Appeals in this matter, Case No. 2019-000076. See Appellant's Notice of Appeal with the S.C. Court of Appeals. **R.p. 268.**

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS DID NOT RULE ON APPELLANT'S FOREIGN JUDGMENT FILED ON NOVEMBER 17, 2010 IN THE CHARLESTON COUNTY PROBATE COURT AND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THIS FOREIGN JUDGMENT SHOULD BE ALLOWED AS A CLAIM AGAINST THE ESTATE.**

In its' Order Denying Appeal, the Court of Common Pleas held that Appellant's Foreign Judgment claim that was filed on November 17, 2010 with the Court of Common Pleas was

properly dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and pursuant to Rule 12(b)(8) of the SCRCP. Appellant is in agreement upon that ruling. However, raised in Appellant's Opposition to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and again, in Appellant's Initial Brief, is the fact that the Foreign Judgment was also filed on November 17, 2010 with the Charleston County Probate Court. Respondent has not contested these facts in its' Summary Judgment pleadings or in his Initial Brief. **R.pp. 100-154, R.pp. 242-267.**

In accordance with S.C. Code 62-3-806(c) (2010), a judgment in a proceeding in another court against a personal representative to enforce a claim against the decedent's estate is an allowance of the claim. Given the fact that the Foreign Judgment filed in the Charleston County Probate Court has been uncontested by Respondent, the Appellant requests that the Court declare the Foreign Judgment as an enforceable claim against the Estate.

## **II. THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERRED IN RULING ON RESPONDENT'S ISSUES THAT WERE NOT PRESENTED BY RESPONDENT OR RULED UPON BY THE PROBATE COURT.**

An appellate court will not consider issues on appeal that have not been preserved for appellate review. In the Interest of Michael H., 360 S.C. 540, 546, 602 S.E.2d 729, 732 (2004) (holding that issues must be raised and ruled upon in the trial court to be preserved for appellate review). When an appellate court rules on an issue not preserved for appellate review, the portion of the appellate court's opinion pertaining to the unpreserved issue should be vacated. Ulmer v. Ulmer, 369 S.C. 486, 632 S.E.2d 858 (2006), citing State v Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003).

As set forth above, Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment based upon three (3) issues: 1) that Appellant's two creditor claims were barred by S.C. Code 62-3-806(1)

and 804(5); 2) failure of Appellant to serve Summons and Petition within thirty (30) days; and 3) Appellant's lack of service of process.

The Probate Court, in its' Order Granting Summary Judgment to Respondent, only ruled upon the timeliness of Appellant's filing of the two creditor claims and Respondent's use of the "Reporter's Comments" as its' basis for summary judgment. The Probate Court ruled that in the "Reporter's Comments", it states that "failure of a personal representative to mail notice of his action within thirty days after the claim filing period has expired constitutes a notice of disallowance with warning of impending bar. A claimant has thirty days to react to a disallowed claim". The Probate Court did not rule upon Appellant's alleged failure to serve Summons and Petition within thirty (30) days or Appellant's alleged lack of service of process for the Summons and Petition.

Nevertheless, Respondent's Initial Brief to the Court of Common Pleas addressed issues that were not raised in Probate Court and therefore, were not preserved for appellate review. The Court of Common Pleas erroneously ruled upon these unpreserved issues despite the objection of Appellant's attorney. These issues and the Court of Common Pleas decisions are set forth below.

**a) I of Respondent's Initial Brief- All Appellant creditor claims are barred as a matter of law for Appellant's failure to properly and timely serve her Summons and Petition for Allowance of Claim within statutory thirty (30) day deadline.**

**Court of Common Pleas ruled that Appellant "failed to properly serve her Summons and Petition for Allowance of Claims as required under South Carolina law."**

**b) II of Respondent's Initial Brief- All Appellant creditor claims are barred by S.C. Code Ann. 15-3-530(1).**

**Court of Common Pleas ruled that "as evidenced in the very language of**

**Appellant's creditor claims for breach of Divorce Decree and its accompanying HUD Uniform Settlement Statement for refinance, Appellant had notice of any breach well before three years prior to Decedent's death".**

**c) III of Respondent's Initial Brief, last line: Appellant failed to domesticate any foreign judgment in South Carolina against the Estate of Andrew Manigault**

**Court of Common Pleas did not address the domestication issue.**

**d) IV of Respondent's Initial Brief: Appellant's Issues on Appeal II and III arguments fail because the Personal Representative properly complied with the relevant prior version of S.C. Code 62-3-806(a) in effect at the time of Decedent's death (which prior version did not contain the deadline for disallowance relied upon by Appellant).**

**Court of Common Pleas ruled that "Appellant incorrectly cited the current version of S.C. Code Ann. 62-3-806(a) which was not in effect at the time of the Decedent's death in 2010. The relevant version of the statute did not contain the new deadline for disallowance relied upon by the Appellant."**

The Court of Common Pleas ruled upon these unpreserved issues and these findings should be vacated.

**III. THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERRED IN ALLOWING NEW EVIDENCE TO BE SUBMITTED AT THE APPELLATE HEARING THAT WAS NOT PREVIOUSLY USED IN THE PROBATE COURT PROCEEDING.**

The circuit court, court of appeals, or Supreme Court shall hear and determine the appeal according to the rules of law. The hearing must be strictly on appeal and no new evidence may be presented.

At the appellate hearing on July 30, 2018, Respondent's attorney presented the Court with new evidence, namely, a "Comparison of 2010 & 2014 S.C. Code, Section 62-3-806-Allowance of Claims". Appellant's attorney objected to the introduction of this new evidence and testified on the record that Respondent had been relying upon the 2014 S.C. Code 62-3-806 for allowance of claim in Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and up until July 30,

2018. Appellant's attorney argued that the 2010 S.C. Code 62-3-806 had never been used by the Respondent and that its' use at the hearing was inappropriate.

The Court of Common Pleas cites to the 2010 S.C. Code 62-3-806 and compares it to 2014 S.C. Code 62-3-806 in its' ruling. This new evidence should not have been allowed and should be stricken from the record. Any decision by the Court of Common Pleas that includes any portion of the "Comparison of 2010 & 2014 S.C. Code" should be vacated.

**IV . THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE "REPORTER'S COMMENT" FROM AN EARLIER VERSION OF S.C. CODE ANN. 62-3-806 WAS NOT TO BE SHOWN A CONTROLLING ERROR.**

In the Court of Common Pleas' ruling, it cites the 2010 version of the S.C. Code 62-3-806(a) in deciding that Respondent's Disallowance of Appellant's claims were untimely. However, the Respondent did not plead the 2010 S.C. Code 62-3-806(a) in its' Motion for Summary Judgment or his Initial Brief. The Court found that because Appellant incorrectly cited S.C Code 62-3-806 (in that Appellant was using the 2014 version of that statute in her pleadings, as was the Respondent), that her arguments in connection with the "incorrect statute's Reporter's Comments were in apposite and need not be considered for purposes of this Order."

Appellant argues that the "Reporter's Comment" issue has not been addressed by the Court and that its' reliance on the 2010 S.C. Code 62-3-806(a) should cause this ruling to be vacated.

**V. THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERRED IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT'S DISALLOWANCE OF CLAIM WAS VALID BECAUSE IT CITED NEW EVIDENCE THAT HAD NOT BEEN USED IN THE PROBATE COURT PROCEEDING AND IT DID NOT RULE UPON APPELANT'S STATUTE OF LIMITATION ARGUMENT.**

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