THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000076

CAROL MANIGAULT,

Appellant.

v.

MORRIS ELLISON, AS PERSONAL
REPRESENTATIVE OF THE
ESTATE OF ANDREW
MANIGAULT,

Respondent.

RECEIVED
NOV 13 2019
SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

James D. Myrick, Esq.
Womble Bond Dickinson (US) LLP
5 Exchange Street
Charleston, SC 29401
Telephone: (843) 720-3400
Jim.Myrick@wbd-us.com
Attorneys for the Respondent

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

²⁶ R. pp. 275-306.

²⁷ R. p. 332.

²⁸ R. pp. 14-27.

fact through mere speculation or the building of one inference upon another. Beale v. Hardy, 769 F.2d 213, 214 (4th Cir. 1985). The existence of a mere scintilla of evidence in support of the non-moving party's position is insufficient to overcome a motion for summary judgment. Id. Summary judgment is designed to save valuable trial time and thus assist in securing speedy and inexpensive justice. Royster Co. v. E. Distribution, Inc., 301 S.C. 18, 389 S.E.2d 863 (1990). In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment. Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 673 S.E.2d 801 (2009). A motion for summary judgment can be used to raise the defense of the statute of limitations. McDonnell v. Consol. Sch. Dist., 315 S.C. 487, 489, 445 S.E.2d 638 (1994).

I. APPELLANT'S NEW JERSEY DIVORCE DECREE, LABELED "FINAL JUDGMENT OF DIVORCE," WAS NEVER PROPERLY ENROLLED IN SOUTH CAROLINA UNDER THE UNIFORM ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENTS ACT, CONTAINED NO SUM CERTAIN DUE, AND WAS FILED IN THE PROBATE COURT AS AN EXHIBIT IN SUPPORT OF TWO CREDITOR'S CLAIMS. APPELLANT FAILED TO FILE AND SERVE A PETITION UPON THE DISALLOWANCE OF HER CREDITOR'S CLAIMS AND INCORRECTLY ASSERTS THAT THE DIVORCE DECREE SHOULD HAVE "STAND-ALONE" STATUS.

Calling a Chihuahua a Great Dane does not make the dog at issue any larger. Nor does merely filing a "Final Judgment of Divorce" make it necessarily qualify as domesticated judgment under S.C. Code Ann. §15-35-920 subject to the Uniform Enforcement of Foreign Judgments Act. Here, no New Jersey court has ever ruled that Decedent Andrew Manigault breached the 2002 divorce decree in any way before his death in 2010. Further, no court had reduced any such alleged violation of the Final Judgment of Divorce to a sum certain.

If Appellant believed she could prove monies were due to her for Decedent's alleged failure to make certain mortgage payments under the Divorce Decree, any such claims would have to have been heard and reduced to a judgment by the New Jersey court. There is no evidence in the record that they were. If any such claims somehow survived three years after a 2005 refinancing (when the supporting HUD documentation from New Jersey disclosed her knowledge of such perceived breach²⁹), Appellant's remedy would have been to file and serve a timely petition with the Probate Court. The Probate Court and later the Circuit Court found she did not timely file and serve such a petition.

The gravamen of a properly docketed and indexed foreign judgment is that it constitutes in effect an established debt of the judgment debtor. No such certainty or clarity exists by the mere filing a divorce decree. No documents establishing the alleged debt at all were provided, nor even any documents stating a debt was due at all except the conclusory affidavit of Appellant's attorney.³⁰ No New Jersey court reached such a conclusion nor did any other court reviewing the enforcement of the divorce decree in any other state.

Appellant acknowledges and now apparently concedes that the divorce decree, also filed in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas as a "foreign judgment," was properly dismissed by the Circuit Court.³¹ The Circuit Court concluded it had no subject matter

²⁹ R. pp. 113-114.

³⁰ R. pp. 64-80.

³¹ Appellant's Initial Brief filed with this Court on May 21, 2019, p. 11. ("In its Order Denying Appeal, the Court of Common Pleas held that Appellant's Foreign Judgment claim that was filed November 17, 2010 with the Court of Common Pleas was properly dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and pursuant to Rule 12(b)(8) of the SCRCF. Appellant is in agreement upon that ruling.").

jurisdiction dismissing (not transferring to the Probate Court, as Appellant's statement of fact incorrectly recites) the filing.³²

Consistent with its position filed in the Court of Common Pleas³³, the Respondent contested the validity and enforceability of the purported Foreign Judgment in Probate Court by disallowing the two creditor's claims. Because Appellant never pursued the disallowances, no court ever determined if the Divorce Decree was breached and if so, the amount of any breach. Additionally, § 15-35-920 states "a foreign judgment must be docketed and indexed in the same manner as a judgment of the state"³⁴ and it is undisputed these mandatory steps were not taken to enroll the Final Judgment of Divorce.

II. APPELLANT FUNDAMENTALLY MISCONSTRUES THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PRESERVATION RULES FOR AN APPELLANT UNDER LONG-ESTABLISHED LEGAL PRINCIPLES AND FOR A RESPONDENT UNDER RULE 220(C) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA APPELLANT COURT RULES.

Appellant claims

[r]espondent's initial brief to the Court of Common Pleas addressed issues that were not raised in the Probate Court and therefore, were not preserved for appellate review. The Court of Common Pleas erroneously ruled upon these unpreserved issues despite the objection of Appellant's attorney.³⁵

Appellant then lists the four issues which are addressed in greater detail below.

The express foundation for Appellant's objection is that "[a]n appellate court will not consider issues on appeal that have not been preserved for appellate review." In the Interest of Michael H., 360 S.C. 540, 546, 602 S.E.2d 729, 732 (2004). This analysis misses the mark and

³² R. pp. 5-6.

³³ R. pp. 81-85.

³⁴ S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-920 (1976).

³⁵ Appellant's Initial Brief filed with this Court on May 21, 2019, p. 13.

the express language of Rule 220(c). It is true an appellant as the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling for an appellate court which will review those issues and arguments. e.g. Mercer v. Phillips, 318 S.C. 453, 458 S.E.2d 427 (1995) (appellate court generally will not address an issue unless the issue was raised to and ruled upon by the trial court); State v. Williams, 303 S.C. 410, 401 S.E. 2d 168 (1991) (same); Sumter Bldg. & Loan Ass'n v. Winn, 45 S.C. 381, 23 S.E. 29 (1895) (same) as cited in I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E. 2d 716 (2000). But this standard must always be distinguished from the rule applying to the respondent, as the prevailing party below. A respondent may raise on appeal “any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court’s ruling, regardless of whether these reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court.” Id. at 419 (emphasis added). The I'on court further explained the rationale for this difference in the preservation rules:

It would be inefficient and pointless to require a respondent to return to a judge and ask for a ruling on other arguments to preserve them for appellate review. It could also violate the principle that a court usually should refrain from deciding unnecessary questions [citations omitted].

Id. at 419.

As the circuit court properly recognized in the case at bar,

Rule 220(c) SCACR also empowers a court hearing a matter on appeal to ‘affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.’ Therefore, the court in this matter is not restricted to the reasons set forth in the Probate Court’s April 7, 2017 decision. Further, a respondent may raise on appeal any additional reasons the Appellate Court should affirm the lower court’s ruling. South Carolina Dept. of Labor, Licensing and Regulation v. Chastain, 392 S.C. 259, 708 SE 2d 818 (Court App. 2011) citing I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt.

Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 SE 2d 716, 723 (SC 2000). The court hearing the appeal may consider the respondent's additional reasons, and, if convinced it is proper to do so, rely on them or any other reason appearing in the record to affirm the lower court's judgment. I'On, L.L.C., 338 S.C. at 420.³⁶

So long as the grounds for affirming the Probate Court appeared in the record on appeal and the Circuit Court was convinced it was proper and fair to affirm, the Circuit Court acted appropriately.

Evidence on all four issues cited by the Appellant appeared in the record before the Circuit Court and supported the Circuit Court's ruling. Evidence of the Appellant's failure to properly serve her Summons and Petition for allowance of claims as required under South Carolina law appears in the record.³⁷

Evidence appears in the record that the Appellant had clear notice in 2005 of any breach of the Divorce Decree, as proven in the very language of Appellant's creditors claim and its accompanying HUD Uniform Settlement for Refinance dated 2005.³⁸ Therefore, any claims by Appellant were barred by the three (3) year statute of limitations of S.C. Code Ann. §15-3-510(1), well before Decedent's death in 2010.

There is also proof in the record also that Appellant failed to reduce to judgment and to domesticate any foreign judgment in South Carolina as required under S.C. Code Ann. §15-35-920.³⁹ No required docketing and indexing were accomplished, for example, as required by the statute. In fact, the Probate Court acknowledged that the argument had been made before it that

³⁶ R. p. 18, lines 12-21.

³⁷ R. p. 9, lines 1-2.

³⁸ R. p. 28, lines 13-14; pp. 29-30.

³⁹ R. pp. 291-294; p. 20, line 21- p. 21, line 1.

the Divorce Decree was not enforceable as a foreign judgment when it stated in its order it need not reach such argument for its ruling.⁴⁰

There is also evidence in the record that the Personal Representative complied with the relevant prior version of S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-806(a) in effect at the time of Decedent's 2010 death when the Personal Representative issued disallowances of the claim on January 20, 2016 and January 25, 2016⁴¹. This version of the statute did not contain the deadline for disallowance relied upon by the Appellant. See Hayes Order.⁴²

Appellant's statement that "the Court of Common Pleas ruled upon the unpreserved issues and these findings should be vacated"⁴³ ignores Rule 220(c) and is simply a misinterpretation of the law.

III. RESPONDENT'S USE OF AN EXHIBIT ENTITLED "COMPARISON OF 2010 & 2014 SC CODE SECTION 62-3-806, ALLOWANCE OF CLAIMS" IS NOT EVIDENCE AT ALL, MUCH LESS NEW EVIDENCE.

At the hearing of the appeal in Circuit Court, Respondent's counsel presented a chart or exhibit comparing the controlling statute S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-806 as it read in 2010 at the time of Decedent's death and as the statute read after its 2014 amendment. The point of the exhibit was to show exactly how the statute's language had changed. Respondent alleges this "new evidence" should "have never been used by the Respondent and that this use at the hearing was inappropriate."⁴⁴

⁴⁰ R. p. 19; See also, pp. 350-353.

⁴¹ R. pp. 294-299.

⁴² R. pp. 21-22.

⁴³ Appellant's Initial Brief filed with this Court on May 21, 2019, p. 14.

⁴⁴ Appellant's Initial Brief filed with this Court on May 21, 2019, p. 14.

The opposite is true. It is the very role of the Circuit Court to interpret the law, any changes in the law, and to apply controlling law to the facts. To argue “[t]his new evidence should not have been admitted and should be stricken from the record” and that “any decision by the Court of Common Pleas that includes any portion of the comparison of 2010 & 2014 SC Code should be vacated,” misses the point entirely: Only by understanding the difference between the South Carolina Code in effect at the time of Decedent’s death and later versions can the Circuit Court do its job. In fact, the issue of interpretation of a statute is exclusively a question of law for the court to decide. Myat v. Tuomey Reg’l Med. Ctr., No. 5636, 2019 WL 1461570, 2019 S.C. App LEXIS_30 (Ct. App. Apr. 3, 2019). Any failure to recognize the timing and effect of any amendments would be error. Comparison of statutes is not evidence. Providing a “red-lined” version of the applicable Code Section as an exhibit for the Court would seem a productive exercise by any advocate.

There is no suggestion that the comparison was inaccurate. Similarly, there is no factual dispute that the Personal Representative complied with the terms of S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-806 as it read in 2010 at the time of Decedent’s death.

IV. THE PROBATE COURT’S CITATION TO A “REPORTER’S COMMENT” FROM AN EARLIER VERSION OF SC CODE SECTION 62-3-806 HAS NOT BEEN SHOWN TO BE A CONTROLLING ERROR BECAUSE THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY APPLIED THE STATUTE.

In its Order⁴⁵, the Probate Court cites a “Reporter’s Comment” to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-806 which reads as follows. “Failure of a person representative to mail notice of his action within 30 days after the claim filing period has expired constitutes a notice of disallowance with warning of the impending bar.” Appellant insists that the Probate Court was misguided in citing

⁴⁵ R. p. 11.

and relying upon the Reporter's Comment since the Reporter's Comment cannot be found anywhere in the official SC Code of Laws. Regardless of the Reporter's Comment, however, the key consideration is that the Probate Court properly applied the version of S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-806(a) in effect at the time of Decedent's death in 2010, and not a later version. The 2010 statute contained neither the sixty (60) day nor the fourteen (14) month timeline described by Appellant as "statutes of limitations" in her arguments. Without such governing timelines to issue the disallowances being in effect at the time of the Decedent's 2010 death, Respondent did not fail under the statute. This complies with the general rule that statutes in general do not have retroactive application unless the statute says so⁴⁶. Reference to the Reporter's Comment, therefore, was not a controlling error.

V. THE 2014 VERSION OF S.C. CODE ANN. SECTION 62-3-806(A) WHICH CONTAINS THE TIMELINES APPELLANT SEEKS TO IMPOSE WAS NOT IN EFFECT WHEN THE DECEDENT DIED IN 2010.

The version of Section 62-3-806(a) in effect at the time of the Decedent's death – which is controlling in this matter – did not contain any specific deadline for a personal representative to file a Disallowance of Claim. The controlling version of S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-806(a) read as follows:

As to claims presented in the manner described in Section 62-3-804 within the time limit prescribed in 62-3-803, the personal representative may mail a notice to any claimants stating that the claim has been disallowed. If, after allowing or disallowing a claim, the personal representative changes his decision concerning the claim, he shall notify the claimant. The personal representative may not change a disallowance of claim after the time for the claimant to file a petition for allowance or to commence a proceeding on the claim has run and the claim has been barred. Every claim which is disallowed in whole or in part by the personal representative is barred so far as not allowed unless the claimant files a

⁴⁶ See, eg., State v. Hilton, 406 S.C. 580, 752 S.E.2d 549 (Ct. App. 2013).

petition for allowance in the court or commencing a proceeding against the personal representative not later than 30 days after the mailing of the Notice of Disallowance or partial allowance if warns the claimant of the impending bar. It is the responsibility of the personal representative to notify the claimant if a claim is disallowed.

In light of the statute in effect on the date of Decedent's death, the Court held that there is no evidence whatsoever that Respondent's January 19, 2016 Disallowance of Appellant's Claims were untimely. For this reason, there remained no genuine issue as any material fact and Respondent was entitled to judgment as a matter of law".⁴⁷

Appellant's attempts to shoehorn the facts of this case into a later 2014 version of the statute which contains Appellant's preferred timelines are ineffective. The revisionist approach appears thus in Appellant's brief:

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